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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
TERRE HAUTE DIVISION

EDWARD GLUCK & JOHN CUNNINGHAM,
Plaintiffs,
VS. 2:12-cv-32-JMS-DKL

WNIN TRI-STATE PuBLIC MEDIA, INC., et al,
Defendants.

N N N N N N N N

ORDER
Presently before the Court is Defendant MNri-State Public Media, Inc. (“WNIN),*
Defendant League of Women Voters of SWIN (“Local Ledpueefendant League of Women

Voters (national) (“National Leaglle and Defendant Pam Locker’s_(“LocKgr(collectively

“Defendant¥) motions to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Gaplaint. [Dkts. 20; 23; and 29.]

l.
BACKGROUND ?

Plaintiff John Cunningham waseh_.ibertarian candidate fondiana’s 8th District Con-
gressional seat in 2010. [Dkt. 1 at 2 and 4.] Plaintiff Edward Gluck was an interested party in
Mr. Cunningham’s campaign. [Dkt. 1 at 2 and Béfendant WNIN is a hon-commercial televi-
sion station. [Dkts. 1 at 2 and 4; 21 at 5-Béfendant Local League &private, not-for-profit
entity. [Dkt. 1 at 2; 24 at 2.] Defendant Natiohabhgue is also a private, not-for-profit entity.

[Id.] Defendant Locker was the president of lthoeal League at the timaf the events in ques-

tion. [Dkt. 1 at 2.]

! Although Defendant WNIN requested oral argutmehe Court finds oral argument to be
unecessary to resolve the pending motions. Atingly, WNIN'’s request for oral argument is
denied. [Dkt. 22.]

% This facts described herein contain all reasonaiferences in favor of the Plaintiffs as re-
quired by the standard of rew on a motion to dismiss.
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The Local League sponsored and scheduliaceaelevised debate between the Congres-
sional candidates for Indiais 8th Districton October 26, 2010 (“the debgtea week before
Election Day. [Dkt. 21 at 2.] WNINroduced and broadcasted the debdge. Mr. Cunning-
ham was not originally included the scheduled debate; howewbe Local League rewrote the
debate contract to include himhas request. [Dkt. 1 at 4.] idther candidate refused to sign the
contract as it was rewritten, and the Locabfue informed Mr. Cunningham that he would be
excluded from the debateld]] The National League inforad Mr. Cunningham that the Local
League’s actions were against its rules but thatNational League would not take actiofd.][

Mr. Cunningham attempted to attend the delbatewas barred from entering WNIN'’s studio.
[1d.]

On February 10, 2012, Mr. Gluand Mr. Cunningham filed a Complaint against the De-
fendants. [Dkt. 1.] The Defenadis filed various motions to dismiss, [dkts. 20; 23; 29], and in
addition to joining a motion tdismiss, Ms. Locker filed a nion for summary judgment, [dkt.
26].2 Neither Mr. Gluck nor Mr. Cunningham filegsponse briefs to any of the Defendants’

motions.

% In support of their motions to dismiss, soofehe defendants incorporate arguments advanced
by other defendants.Sge, e.g.Dkt. 24 at 2 (brief by Ms. Locker and the Local League incorpo-
rating arguments from dkt. 21 at 3-10).Jedduse Mr. Gluck and Mr. Cunningham had an ade-
guate opportunity to respond to all of the Defendants’ motions, the Court can impugn the argu-
ments made by any defendant to all of the defeisdarthe extent the arguments are equally ef-
fective at barring a claimSeeMalak v. Associated Physicians, In¢84 F.2d 277, 280 (7th Cir.
1986) (holding that where one defendant files dionothat is equally féective in barring the
claim against the other defendants, the Court snayspontenter judgment in favor of the addi-
tional non-moving defendant if ¢hplaintiff had an adequatgportunity to argue in opposition

to the motion). Because the arguments raggrdtanding, exhaustion @fdministrative reme-
dies, and failure to state a claim are equallgaive at barring the claims against all of the De-
fendants, the Court applies those argumentdl tbedendants. Because the claims against Ms.
Locker are dismissed on those bases, the Colimetiaddress the additional arguments she pre-
sented in her motion for summary judgmenmhich is denied as moot. [Dkt. 26.]
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Il.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the sufficiency of a complairibe Court must accept all well-pled facts as
true and draw all permissible infexes in favor of the plaintiff Active Disposal Inc. v. City of
Darien, 635 F.3d 883, 886 (7th Cir. 2011). The Fed®&uales of Civil Procedure require only
that a complaint provide the defendant with “faitice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds
upon which it rests.” Erickson v. Pardus551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007) (quotingell Atlantic v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544 (2007)). Nonetheless, “anptaint may be so sketchy that the com-
plaint does not provide the type of notice of ttlaim to which the defendant is entitledXir-
borne Beepers & Video, Inc. v. AT&T Mobility L1499 F.3d 663, 667 (7th Cir. 2007) (synthe-
sizing EricksonandTwombly. In that circumstance, a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) is proper. A motioilefl under that rule asks whether the complaint
“contain[s] sufficient factual matter, accepted as ttaéstate a claim to relief that is plausible
on its face.” Ashcroft v. Igbagl129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009) (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. 544). For the purposes of th&t,rthe Court will ignoe legally conclusory
allegations. Id. at 1949-50 (“Although for the purposes ofmation to dismiss we must take all
of the factual allegationis the complaint as true, we amet bound to accept asie a legal con-
clusion couched as a factual allegation.”). The Court will, however, give the complaint the bene-
fit of reasonable inferences fraatl non-conclusory allegationsd.

Although the Court must assume the accuracthefallegations in the plaintiff's com-
plaint in determining the plausibility of an etginent to relief, it is not required to accept legal
conclusions without suppoitom factual allegationsAshcroft 129 S. Ct. at 1950. When a de-

fendant presents a motion to dismiss to a plaifdifffailure to state a alm, the plaintiff must



provide the Court with some ledadsis to support his argumer@nty. of McHenry v. Ins. Co. of
the W, 438 F.3d 813, 818 (7th Cir. 2006).

If a plaintiff fails to respondo a motion to dismiss, th€ourt may conclude that the
plaintiff has waived his argumenBonte v. U.S. Bank, N,A24 F. 3d 461, 466 (7t@Gir. 2010).
Additionally, if the defendant presents plausilbbbasons why a complaint should be dismissed,
the Court has no responsibility to conduct researcivehalf of a plaintiff in order to discover
whether the plaintiff coulgrevail against the defend&nplea for dismissal.Kirksey v. R.J.
Reynolds Tobacco Gd.68 F.3d 1039, 1041 (7th Cir. 1999).

[l.
DISCUSSION

Plaintiffs allege that their action arises aitfederal election lavand civil rights law.
Defendants argue that Plaintiidk standing to pursue theiraghs. Alternatively, Defendants
argue that Plaintiffs’ claimed wolation of federal election law ifa because they did not exhaust
their administrative remedies. Defendants argaé Btaintiffs’ civil rights claim fails because
they did not allege a crucial element of thatim. The Court will address these arguments in
turn.

A. Standing

Mr. Cunningham alleges that tBefendants violated his right frarticipate in the debate
pursuant to federal election lawad his right of free speech. [DKt at 3.] Mr. Gluck alleges
that the Defendants violated his right to fegeech because he was unable to comment on Mr.
Cunningham’s debate performancec& Mr. Cunningham was excludedd.[at 5.]

The Defendants argue that Meluck and Mr. Cunningham'€omplaint should be dis-
missed because they lack standing, as requirékttiple 11l of the United States Constitution, to

pursue these claims because their alleged injari$oo hypothetical[Dkts. 21; 24; and 30.]
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Article 11l of the Constitutiorgrants federal courts jurisdiction over “cases and controver-
sies[,]” and the standing doctrine is the tockdiso identify which cases and controversies the
federal judicial process can appropriately resoMéitmore v. Arkansagl95 U.S. 149, 154-55
(1990); see also Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. Antans United for Separation of Church &
State, Inc.454 U.S. 464, 471-76 (1982). A plaintiff sgek to invoke federal jurisdiction must
first establish the required standito sue before a federal cooray consider the merits of the
plaintiff's legal claim. Id. At a minimum, a plaintiff must &blish the three elements of stand-
ing by showing that (1) they have suffered an injuryact that is (a) concrete and particularized
and (b) actual or imminent, nobnjectural or hypothetical; (2here is a casual connection be-
tween the injury and the conductneplained of; and (3) it mudte likely as opposed to merely
speculative that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decikigan v. Defenders of Wild-
life, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992) (quotations omitted).

The plaintiff bears the burden of establishithgit he meets the required elements of
standing. Retired Chicago Police Ass’n v. City of Chicag® F.3d 856, 862 (7th Cir. 1996).
The Court must accept all material allegationshef complaint as true and draw all reasonable
inferences in the plaintiff's favor vem reviewing a complaint for standingee v. City of Chj.
330 F.3d 456, 468 (7th Cir. 2003). The Court ndegermine whether the party invoking federal
jurisdiction has a personsatake in the disposition of the gdige and whether thdispute directly
affects the legal relations ofdiparties involvedh the suit. O'Sullivan v. City of Chj.396 F.3d
843, 853 (7th Cir. 2005). At the pleading stage, gdrfactual allegations dhe plaintiff's inju-
ry resulting from a defendant’s conduct may suffitejan, 504 U.S. at 561. However, if stand-

ing is challenged in a motion to dismiss as aualctnatter, the plaintiff must come forward with



competent proof that standing exits and thabpmust be shown by a preponderance of the evi-
dence.Retired Chi. Police Assqc/6 F.3d at 862.
1. Mr. Gluck

Mr. Gluck alleges that he was an inteegsperson in the camiga of Mr. Cunningham
and that the Defendants violated Mr. Gluck’ssEAmendment right of free speech because he
was not able to comment on Mr. Cunninghadebate performance since Mr. Cunningham was
not allowed to participate in thdebate. [Dkt. 1 at 5.] Mr. Glkgrovides no further details as to
how he allegedly suffered injuries hgt having the opportunity to comment.

The Defendants argue that Mr. Gluck lackanging because any alleged injuries suffered
by his inability to comment on Mr. Cunningham’s dibare too abstract to be judicially cog-
nizable. [Dkt. 21 at 4-5.] In other words, Defent$aargue that Mr. Gluck’s interests in this law-
suit are mere curiosity, maig his injuries conjectural.

According to the minimum requirements set fortiLujan, to have standing, Mr. Gluck
must have an actual injury that is connectethiDefendants’ conduct that is more than hypo-
thetical and that can likely be redressgda favorable decision of the Couttujan, 504 U.S. at
560-61. The Defendants have presented comgnmasons why Mr. Gliclacks standing to
pursue a claim regarding Mr. Cunningham’s excladiom the debate. Any injury Mr. Gluck
sustained is purely hypotheticaicanot likely to be redressed byfavorable decision from this
Court. Mr. Gluck was not a camldite and does not allege th&t was precluded from attending
the debate. In fact, Mr. Gluck does not all¢gat he was precluded from commenting on the
debate or on Mr. Cunningham’s candidacy in gdngrst that he didn'get to comment on it in
the manner he anticipated at the debate. Thet@ouacludes that this alleged injury is too con-

jectural to support Mr. Gluck’standing. Mr. Gluck has providea response to the Defendants’



motion to dismiss for lack aftanding, and the Court will nebnduct Mr. Gluck’s research for
him to try to discover whether there might bensthing to say against Defendants’ reasoning.
Kirksey, 168 F.3d at 1041.

The Court concludes that Mr. Gluck has not ime burden to show #t he has standing
to pursue his claims against the Defendantscofdingly, his claims are dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction?

2. Mr. Cunningham

Mr. Cunningham alleges that the Defendantdated a federal election law and his First
Amendment right of freedom of speech by omitting him from the debate and further barring his
attendance at the debatgDkt. 1 at 4.]

Once more, the minimum requirements requisg¢ Mr. Cunningham must have an actual
injury that is connected to the Defendants’ aet that is more than hypothetical and that can
likely be redressed by a favotaldecision othe Court. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61. Mr. Cun-
ningham has alleged that his omission from thigatke denied him the. " privilege of being a
federal candidate on the 8th distrof Indiana ballot” and thahe National League “...would not
correct the injustice.” [Dkt. 1 at 4-5.] Mr. Cunninghanalleges that his exclusion was a
“planned decision” of the Defendants furthebgdthe National League’s failure to add. Mr.
Cunningham seeks monetary damage$i®claim. [Dkt. 1 at 6.]

The Defendants collectively argue that.NDunningham lacks standing because his al-

leged injuries are too attenuated to be connegtétdthe actions of the Defendants. [Dkt. 21 at

* Even if the Court determined that Mr. Glulelad standing, his claimsould be dismissed for
the same reasons the Court dismissesMnningham’s claims, as detailed below.

> To the extent Mr. Cunningham seeks relief ifguries allegedly suffered by the democratic
candidate and the media, [dkt. 1 at 6], he doeshawé standing to pursue claims on behalf of
those non-partieg,ujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61.
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5.] While the Court agrees withe Defendants that Mr. Cunninghas fighting an uphill battle
to prove his claim, he has alleged that assaltef Defendants’ actions he was not allowed to
participate in the debate, despite being a candidate. The Court conchtdéssthlleged injury
and the monetary relief that he sesldpports his standing to pursue his claim.

B. Mr. Cunningham'’s Claims

The Defendants collectively argue thdr. Cunningham’s Complaint should be dis-
missed because he fails to state a claim upon whiieti can be granted. [Dkts. 21; 24; and 30.]
Specifically, Defendants’ argueahMr. Cunningham failed toxeaust his administrative reme-
dies to pursue a violation of federal election law anddaiteplead a cause of action under 42
U.S.C. § 1983.d.

1. Alleged Violation of Federal Election Law

Mr. Cunningham cites 11 C.F.R. § 110.13h# Federal Election Commission’s (“FEC
implementing regulations to support his claim tit Defendants violated federal election laws.
[Dkt. 1 at 3.] That regulation provides thataging organizations musise pre-established ob-
jective criteria to determine which candidates mayticipate in a debate” and that for general
election debates, staging orgamiaas “shall not use nomination ayparticular political party as
the sole objective criterion to determine whether to include a candidate in a debate.” 11 C.F.R. §
110.13(c).

2 U.S.C. § 43790f the Federal Election Campaign Act (“the Actets forth the admin-
istrative procedure a person must follow if he beketr@t there has been a violation of the Act.

It provides that a person who believes that theh&s been violated should file a complaint with

the FEC. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1). After reviegvthe complaint and providing an opportunity for

® This provision is also known as 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.
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a responseag., the commissioners vote on whether thaye “reason to belieV that a violation
has occurred, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2). If fourttd six commissioners find “reason to believe,”
the FEC begins an investigatiofd. But if no majority finds “reason to believe,” the FEC dis-
misses the complaint, and the complainant migya petition with the United States District
Court for the District of Columhb. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8)(A).

The doctrine of administrative remedies provitiest no one is entitled to judicial relief
for a supposed or threatened injury until the gnibed administrative remedy has been exhaust-
ed. McKart v. United States395 U.S. 185, 193 (1969) (internal quotation marks omittezh;
also Ester v. Principi250 F.3d 1068, 1072 (7th Cir 2001) (@oly that “strong policy consid-
erations compel us toward [requiring requiringnamistrative process, auding] the values of
judicial economy, agency autonomy, accuracy, tedneed for a well-developed record for re-
view”). The doctrine’s primarpurpose is to avoithterruption of the administrative process
because an administrative agency, like a trial tcasicreated for the purpose of applying a stat-
ute in the first instancand the courts should not interfere with that process until an agency has
completed its actionsMcKart, 395 U.S. at 193-94. Frequerd deliberate interruption of ad-
ministrative processes could weaken the effec@ss of an agency by encouraging people to
ignore its proceduredd. at 195. “[E]xhaustion means usingd steps that the agency holds out,
and doing soproperly (so that the agency addresses the issues on the merRezb v.
McCaughtry 286 F.3d 1022, 1024 (7th Cir. 2002) (original emphasis).

Although Mr. Cunningham alleges that thef@welants violated 11 C.F.R. § 110.13, even
giving his Complaint the benefit of reasonabléeiances, he does not allege that he complied
with the administrative remedies set forth by the Adtr does he make a facial challenge to the

regulation or any portion of the Act. Moreoveken if he had filed a complaint with the FEC,



the Act provides that a petitionrfalistrict court review shoulbe filed “with the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia,” 2 8.C. § 437g(a)(8)(A), whitis not this Court.
Again, Mr. Cunningham did not respond to Defendantotions to dismiss and the Court will
not search for case law or an argument to defssonable Defendants’ contentions. Accord-
ingly, the Court grants Defendants’ motiongdtemiss Mr. Cunningham’slaim that Defendants
violated 11 C.F.R. § 110.13.

2. 42 U.S.C. 81983 claim

Mr. Cunningham does not didc allege that he is biging a suit under 42 U.S.C.

8§ 1983. This is, however, clearly the basis for his second claim because he alleges violations of
his First Amendment rights and actually titles hisaac“Civil Rights Complaint.” [Dkt. 1 at 2.]

A cause of action may be brought under 42 0. 1983 against “[e]very person who,
under color of statute, ordinance, regulation, cusionsage, of any State . . . subjects, or causes
to be subjected, any citizen of the United Statestloer person within the jurisdiction thereof to
the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws.”
42 U.S.C. 81983. A plaintiff bmging a cause of action under § 19808st allege that a person
was acting under the color of state law and thesqredeprived him of a right, privilege, or im-
munity secured by the Constitution or laws of the United Stdteadon v. RBS Citizens, N,A.

600 F.3d 742, 745-46 (7th Cir. 2010).

Even giving Mr. Cunningham’s Complaint thenefit of all reasonable inferences, he
does not allege that any of the Defendantsigdhtion were state actors or acting under the col-
or of state law when the alleged violatiamscurred. As previously detailed, Mr. Cunningham

did not respond to Defendants’ motions to dismiss, and the Court will not search for case law or
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an argument to defeat Defendants’ contentidacordingly, the Court grants Defendants’ mo-
tions to dismiss MrCunningham’s 8 1983 claim.

V.
CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the CG&RANTS the Defendants’ motions to dismiss.
[Dkts. 20; 23; 29.] Accordigly, Mr. Gluck’s claims ar®ISMISSED for lack of jurisdiction
and Mr. Cunningham’s claims ai2ISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE . Defendant Locker’s
Motion for Summary Judgment BENIED AS MOOT. [Dkt. 26.] The CourDENIES

WNIN’s Request for Oral Argument. [DK22.] Judgment will isseiby separate entry.

Hon. Jane Magnus-Stinson, Judge

United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana

07/18/2012
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